2005

High Valley Water Company v. Silver Creek Investors : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether Silver Creek Investors' ("SCI") written option to purchase 56 acre-feet of water from High Valley Water Company ("High Valley"), which was timely exercised by SCI, is no longer binding upon High Valley due to the running of the statute of limitations.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The determination of the trial court that the applicable statute of limitations had run is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Spears v. Warr*, 44 P.3d 742, 753 (Utah 2002); *Quick Safe-T Hitch, Inc. v. RSB Systems L.C.*, 12 P.3d 577, 578 (Utah 2000).

PRESERVATION OF ISSUES IN THE TRIAL COURT

Contract Remains Executory - R. 0286-302, 0346 at pp. 20 and 187

Contract Cannot Have Been Breached Until at Least 1999 - R. 0286-302, 0346 at p. 191

DETERMINATIVE LEGAL PROVISIONS

Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-23 (1996)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is founded in an August 20, 1987 Agreement (the "Agreement") between

High Valley and the Atkinson Water Company¹ (“Atkinson”) which granted Atkinson the option to purchase 56 acre-feet of Weber Basin Water Conservancy District (“Weber Basin”) contract water right (the “Water Right”) from High Valley (the “Option”). (R. 0002, 0080-89). Appellee, High Valley filed this lawsuit in an effort to avoid its obligation to segregate and transfer the Water Right to SCI. While High Valley acknowledged, and the trial court found, that SCI properly exercised the Option, High Valley failed to fulfill its obligations under the agreement. (R. 0002, 0320). Specifically, this appeal seeks to reverse the judgment entered by the Hon. Deno Himonas that the Option is unenforceable against High Valley due to the running of the statute of limitations. (R. 0327-28).

Atkinson’s rights under the Agreement, including the Option, were assigned to SCI. (R. 0091). SCI, though Atkinson, exercised the Option by giving timely notice and depositing the stated purchase price into escrow. (R.0093, 0320). Upon exercise of the Option, High Valley was obligated to: (1) segregate the Water Right from its underlying Weber Basin contract right; (2) obtain approval from the State Engineer for SCI’s use of the Water Right by filing a change application; and (3) assign the Water Right to SCI. (R. 0085-86). High Valley has yet to fulfill its obligations under the Option.

The Agreement did not set forth a specific time for High Valley’s performance and SCI did not treat High Valley’s delayed performance as a breach of the Agreement since

¹ Atkinson is the predecessor in interest to SCI.

SCI did not have an immediate need for the water. Rather, after it exercised the Option, SCI allowed High Valley to continue using the water while the contract remained executory. While High Valley, as the user of the Water Right, has continued to pay annual assessments to Weber Basin, consistent with its continued use of the water, SCI has exercised other attributes of ownership without objection by High Valley. In particular, SCI filed a temporary change application and pledged the water right to Summit County as partial security for completion of the improvements to the Silver Creek Commerce Center, the development where the Silver Summit Courthouse now sits. (R. 0161, 0171-185). Moreover, the Option price originally paid by SCI remains on deposit and ready for reimbursement to High Valley.

By 1999, SCI's development plans reached the point where it needed to complete the transfer of the Water Right pursuant to the Option. (R.0036 Ex. P-29). When SCI requested instructions for completing the Option, High Valley stated its belief that it was not obligated to transfer the Water Right to SCI. (R.0110-111). High Valley subsequently filed an action seeking a declaration that the Option, timely exercised by SCI, is no longer unenforceable. (R. 0001-06).

On January 25, 2005, the district court entered its judgment that the Option was no longer enforceable against High Valley due to the running of the statute of limitations. (R. 0327-31). The district court found that High Valley effectively repudiated the Option in failing to file a permanent change application with the State Engineer and that such repudiation amounted to a breach. (R. 0322-23). The district court found that such

breach occurred sometime after the exercise of the Option but no later than March 28, 1994. (R. 0322-23). SCI appeals from this judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. SCI is a Utah general partnership. (R. 0002).
2. High Valley is a Utah non-profit water company. (R. 0002).
3. High Valley has contracts with Weber Basin which allow High Valley to use a total of 285 acre-feet of Weber Basin water. (R. 0002).
4. Atkinson was a customer and shareholder of High Valley. (R. 0002).
5. Disputes arose between High Valley and Atkinson regarding High Valley's delivery of water to Atkinson's shareholders. (R. 0002).
6. On or about August 20, 1987, High Valley, Atkinson, Atkinson Special Service District, and Summit County-Atkinson Water Improvement District entered into a written agreement intended to resolve these disputes. (R. 0080-89).
7. As partial consideration for the compromise, the Agreement also established the Option which provided for Atkinson to purchase from High Valley 56 acre-feet of its Weber Basin contract water right. (R. 0085-86).
8. To exercise the Option, Atkinson was required to provide High Valley with written notice by midnight on December 31, 1987, and deposit \$24,371.64 at Silver King Bank (now Bank One). (R. 0085-86).
9. Under the terms of the Option, after exercise, High Valley was required to file application with the State Engineer to segregate the Water Right, to change the point

of diversion to accommodate Atkinson's (by assignment SCI's) use, and assign the Water Right to Atkinson (by assignment to SCI). (R.0085-86).

10. In the event the State Engineer rejected the applications, all amounts on deposit were to be dispersed to Atkinson (by assignment to SCI), and the obligations of the parties pursuant to the Option would terminate. (R. 0086).

11. On or about December 1, 1987, Atkinson assigned the Option to SCI. (R. 0091).

12. On December 31, 1987, Atkinson gave timely written notice of the exercise of the Option on behalf of SCI and SCI timely deposit the required funds with Silver King State Bank. (R. 0003, 0093).

13. It is undisputed that the amount deposited, together with accrued interest, remains on deposit with Bank One, the successor to Silver King Bank. (R. 0346 at p. 178)

14. While the Option had an express date by which it had to be exercised, no time was set for the filing of the applications with the State Engineer by High Valley, nor was a date set for the expiration of the Option once exercised. (R. 0085-86).

15. Termination of the Option was provided for in the Agreement only in the event that the State Engineer denied the filing by High Valley. (R. 0085-86).

16. Following the exercise of the Option, SCI, with High Valley's knowledge and implicit approval, exercised the attributes of ownership of the Water Right including pledging the Water Right as security for the Silver Summit development and filing a

temporary change application with the State Engineer. (R. 0161, 0171-185).

17. High Valley did not, and to date has not, filed the required applications with the Utah State Engineer necessary to segregate the Water Right or to change the point of diversion, nor has High Valley assigned the Water Right to SCI. (R. 0001-0006).

18. SCI did not have a use for the Water Right until its real estate development project approached approval. In the meantime, SCI, concerned that the Water Right may be deemed forfeited for non-use, allowed High Valley to continue to use the water without charge other than the cost of the annual lease payments to Weber Basin Water Conservancy District. (R. 0346 at p. 171).

19. SCI, however, continued to rely upon its ownership of the 56 acre-feet of water in planning its Silver Summit development. (R. 0171-185, 0346 at p. 172).

20. In 1999, then approaching its need to make use of the water, SCI wrote to High Valley inquiring about the steps necessary to obtain the segregation, change application, and assignment of the water right. (R. 00346 Ex. P-29).

21. On July 28, 1999, counsel for High Valley responded to SCI's letter asserting that SCI "had not fully met" its obligations under the Agreement and indicating High Valley's belief that it was not required to file application to the Utah State Engineer. (R. 0110-111).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The statute of limitations did not run against SCI because the Option portion of the Agreement remains an executory contract. The parties have remaining obligations of

performance to each other. Specifically, High Valley remains obligated to file the required applications with the State Engineer and to assign the Water Right to SCI. SCI, upon approval of the applications, remains obligated to make the necessary calculations and pay any remaining amount due to High Valley. Closing of the Option portion of the Agreement, and calculation of any additional amounts due, can only occur following the State Engineer's disposition of the change application High Valley is required to file. If the change application is approved, High Valley is required to assign the water right to SCI and SCI is required to make the final Option payment to High Valley. If, and only if, the change application is denied, the Option portion of the Agreement will terminate by its own terms, at which time all funds on deposit are to be returned to SCI.

Alternatively, even assuming that the Option portion of the Agreement were not executory, any breach of the Agreement based upon High Valley's delayed performance and/or repudiation of the Agreement cannot have occurred until at least 1999 when SCI required performance. As such, the six-year statute of limitations could not have run against SCI.

ARGUMENT

I. THE OPTION AGREEMENT REMAINS EXECUTORY AND THEREFORE CANNOT HAVE BEEN BREACHED BY HIGH VALLEY'S DELAYED PERFORMANCE

The Option portion of the Agreement remains an executory contract awaiting full performance by the parties. As such, High Valley's delayed performance does not amount to a breach of the Agreement and the statute of limitations cannot have run. A

statute of limitation begins to run when a cause of action accrues. See *Butcher v. Gilroy*, 744 P.2d 311, 313 (Utah App. 1987). “[A] cause of action on a contract accrues, thus causing the statute of limitations to commence, only upon *breach* of the contract.” *Upland Industry Corporation v. Pacific Gamble Robinson Co.*, 684 P.2d 638, 643 (Utah 1984) (emphasis in original). In this case, because the Option portion of the Agreement remains executory, the time for performance has not passed and no breach can have occurred.

An executory contract is one that has not as yet been fully completed or performed. Blacks Law Dictionary, 395 (6th ed. 1991). By its own terms, the Option portion of the Agreement can only close or terminate following the State Engineer’s disposition of the change application that High Valley is required to file. The Agreement states:

Upon approval of the application, the parties shall cause the said sum on deposit with Silver King Bank to be paid and disbursed to High Valley and Atkinson shall pay to High Valley an amount in addition thereto as necessary to pay the entire amount of the purchase price in accordance with sub-paragraph “3C(2)” above as of the date such payment is made (herein “the Closing Date”) whereupon the transaction shall be deemed closed. ([sic] If there is a surplus in said account as of the Closing Date, the surplus shall be disbursed to Atkinson. In the event the application is denied, then upon issuance of the final order of denial all amounts on deposit with Silver King Bank shall be disbursed to Atkinson where-upon all rights and obligations of the parties pursuant to the paragraph “3C” shall terminate and be of no further force or effect.

(R. 0085-86). Thus, the Option portion of the Agreement can only close when there is a final approval of the change application. Conversely, by its own terms, the Option can

only terminate upon the denial of the change application. Neither of those conditions can arise until High Valley files the required applications which it has not done.² Until the Option either closes as a result of an approval of the change application, or terminates as a result of the denial of the change application, it remains an executory contract.

Because the Option remains executory each party has a present duty of performance. Therefore, the district court should have ordered the parties to complete their remaining mutual obligations as prayed in SCI's Answer. (R. 0012). The district court was simply incorrect in ruling that there was a breach of the Agreement and that the statute of limitations period had run because the contract remains executory.

II. ANY BREACH AS A RESULT OF HIGH VALLEY'S DELAY IN PERFORMANCE OR REPUDIATION DID NOT OCCUR UNTIL AT LEAST 1999

Assuming, *arguendo*, that the Agreement is no longer an executory contract and that High Valley's delayed performance somehow amounted to a breach of the Agreement, such breach cannot have occurred prior to 1999. Therefore, even on this alternative basis, the six-year statute of limitations did not run against SCI.

Any possible breach in this case would have to result from High Valley's delay in performing its obligations or High Valley's repudiation of the Option. However, the Agreement did not contain a time certain for the performance of High Valley's

² Neither should High Valley be allowed to use its own delay in performance as a basis to excuse its obligation to perform. See *Karsarsky v. Merit Systems Protection Board*, 296 F. 3d 1331, 1338-1339 (Fed. Cir. 2002) ("agency should not be excused from performance simply because it failed to perform.").

obligations after SCI exercised the Option. (R. 0085-86). “When no time of performance is specified and one party performs, the non-performing party is not in breach of the contract until either (1) the performing party demands performance within a reasonable amount of time, and the other party still fails to perform within the time specified; or (2) the non-performing party repudiates the contract, and the performing party chooses to treat the repudiation as a breach.” *Kasarsky v. Merit Systems Protection Board*, 296 F. 3d 1331, 1336 (Fed. Cir. 2002) (citing *Roehm v. Horst*, 178 U.S. 1, 13 (1900) (repudiation gives the promisee the right of electing either to wait until the time for the promisor’s performance has arrived or to act upon the renunciation and treat it as a final assertion by the promisor that he is no longer bound by the contract)). Thus, breach cannot have occurred until SCI specifically demanded performance and High Valley specifically refused to file application with the State Engineer or High Valley specifically repudiated the Option and SCI chose to treat the repudiation as a breach.

The earliest that SCI could reasonably be deemed to have demanded performance is May 13, 1999, when counsel for SCI sent a letter to High Valley asking to discuss the steps necessary to obtain the release of the Water Right. (R. 00346 Ex. P-29). It was not until this point in time that High Valley, in response to SCI’s inquiry, made clear that it did not intend to file the required applications with the State Engineer and declined to assign the Water Right to SCI. (R. 0110-111).

While the district court did not make a specific finding or conclusion regarding when High Valley’s breach occurred, it did find that High Valley failed to perform

shortly after exercise of the Option (even though no time for performance was specified), and then supposedly repudiated the Option during the course of discussions held between the parties in March, 1994. As such, the district court concluded that the statute of limitations must have begun to run no later than March 28, 1994. However, SCI clearly did not chose to treat High Valley's comments as a breach of the Agreement and continued to expect performance from High Valley until at least 1999. Therefore, the alleged repudiation cannot be considered a breach. *Id.*; see also *Upland Industries*, 684 P.2d at 643 ("Defendants therefore had the right to elect either to treat the repudiation as effective and bring suit at once or to continue to treat the repudiation as ineffective and bring suit if and when an actual breach occurred.") and *Kasco Services Corp. v. Benson*, 831, P.2d 86, 89 (Utah 1992) (the performing party "can immediately treat the anticipatory repudiation as a breach, or can continue to treat the contract as operable and urge performance without waiving any right to sue for repudiation."). Further, as this Court has noted, "[a] party that has received a definite repudiation from the breaching party to the contract should not be penalized for its efforts to encourage the breaching party to perform its end of the bargain." *Breuer-Harrison, Inc. v. Combe*, 799 P.2d 716, 725 (Utah App. 1990) (citing *United California Bank v. Prudential Ins. Co.*, 681 P.2d 390,433 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1983)).

Likewise, SCI did not chose to treat High Valley's delayed performance as a breach. SCI asserted its ownership of the water right following its exercise of the Option and considered the Option binding. However, SCI did not need the water for its