2005

# High Valley Water Company v. Silver Creek Investors : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

A statute of limitations means that time is of the essence as soon as a legal injury becomes actionable. This case is no exception. Silver Creek exercised the Option in 1987. High Valley, believing that exercise defective, did not act. But neither did Silver Creek.

Unchallenged on this appeal is the fact that Silver Creek knew or should have known it had a claim for breach no later than March, 1994. Even if High Valley's prior statements and conduct were insufficient, its unequivocal repudiation in March, 1994 was. Regardless of whether the Option was executory for some period after exercise, as Silver Creek contends, performance was, according to Silver Creek, due at least in 1993, and certainly in 1994, when it "then" believed performance was due and demanded, repeatedly, that High Valley perform.

Having failed to file an action before the generous six year statute of limitations ran—after knowing, in other words, that High Valley had no intention of performing because it believed it had no obligation to perform—Silver Creek let the limitations period lapse, barring any action on the Option.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS TO ANY CLAIM SILVER CREEK MIGHT HAVE HAD AGAINST HIGH VALLEY.**

Statutes of limitation generally are and should be unforgiving. “Once a claim accrues, it may not be maintained unless it is commenced within the limitations period prescribed by the applicable statute of limitations.” *DOIT, Inc. v. Touche, Ross & Co.*, 926 P.2d 835, 843 (Utah 1996)(citing UTAH CODE ANN. §78-12-1).<sup>1</sup> A time-based limitation serves important commercial and policy functions applicable in this case:

entirely apart from the merits of particular claims, the interest in certainty and finality in the administration of our affairs, especially in commercial transactions, makes it desirable to terminate contingent liabilities at specific points in time. It is this interest in finality which underlies the description of a limitations act as a “statute of repose.”

*State of Colorado v. Western Paving Const.*, 833 F.2d 867 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987), *quoting Gates Rubber Co. v. USM Corp.*, 508 F.2d 603, 611 (7th Cir. 1975).<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Section 78-12-1 provides that, “[c]ivil actions may be commenced only within the periods prescribed in this chapter, after the cause of action has accrued, except in specific cases where a different limitation is prescribed by statute.”

<sup>2</sup> Statutes of limitation “are designed to promote justice by preventing surprises through the revival of claims that have been allowed to slumber until evidence has been lost, memories have faded, and witnesses have disappeared.” *Becton Dickinson & Co. v.*

This “interest in finality” applies here because twelve years after exercise, Silver Creek emerged and claimed that the Option was still valid. High Valley, believing since at least 1991 that the Option was dead (R. 323 ¶ 39), restated that belief (Ex. P-18) and was forced to file this action to resolve this twelve year old contingency.

***A. Even under Silver Creek’s reading of the Option, the statute of limitations on a claim for breach began to run as early as December 31, 1987, lapsing on or about December 31, 1993.***

Generally, a limitations period begins to run “upon the happening of the last event necessary to complete the cause of action.” *Myers v. McDonald*, 635 P.2d 84, 86 (Utah 1981). Then, a plaintiff must file the claim “before the limitations period expires or the claim will be barred.” *Russell-Packard Dev., Inc. v. Carson*, 108 P.3d 741, 746 (Utah 2005). “Mere ignorance . . . of a cause of action” neither prevents a statute from running nor “excuse[s] a plaintiff’s failure to file a [timely] claim.” *Id.*, citing *Myers*, 635 P.2d at 86.

An action for breach of contract is ripe, and the statute begins to run, “when the breach occurs.” *Butcher v. Gilroy*, 744 P.2d 311, 313 (Utah App. 1987). This has long been the rule. See *M.H. Walker Realty Co. v. American Surety Co.*, 60 Utah 435, 211 P. 998 (1922).

---

*Reese*, 668 P.2d 1254, 1257 (Utah 1983), quoting *Order of Railroad Telegraphers v. Railway Express Agency, Inc.*, 321 U.S. 342, 348-49 (1944).

According to the Option, or more precisely according to Silver Creek’s successful interpretation of it, High Valley was to file an application to segregate the 56 acre feet and change its point of diversion and assign that water to Silver Creek “[u]pon notice of the exercise of the Option and deposit of the cash sums required by the provisions of [paragraph C] . . . .” (Ex. P-4 at 7, ¶ C. (3). (See R. 320 ¶ 20, 321 ¶ 23).

If, therefore, the Option required High Valley to act immediately—“upon notice” and the initial deposit under paragraph C.(2)(a)—which is how Silver Creek and the trial court read the agreement (R. 320 ¶ 19; R. 346-187, lines 7-8, -15, lines 1-3, -19-20, lines 23-25/1-5)—High Valley breached on or about December 31, 1987, when notice of exercise was given and the funds deposited. (R. 320, ¶ 17-18). Six years later, in December of 1993, Silver Creek had not sued, despite its belief that it “owned” the 56 acre feet. (R. 346—175, 177).

Silver Creek cites *Breuer-Harrison, Inc. v. Combe*, 799 P.2d 716 (Utah App. 1990). *Combe* observed the truism that a contracting party should not be penalized for encouraging performance by a breaching party. *Id.* at 725. (See App. Brf. at 11). High Valley concurs.

But *Combe*’s observation does not describe this case. Because Silver Creek prevailed on its argument that the Option was fully exercised on at the end of 1987 (R.

320 ¶ 19; 321 ¶ 23), High Valley’s obligations matured then and were due “promptly.” (R. 322 ¶ 32).

It was never disputed that Silver Creek “made a *further* unsatisfied demand” in 1993. (R. 321 ¶ 28; *see also* R. 004 ¶ 22 and R. 011 ¶ 22)(emphasis added). That demand came *five years* after exercise. Demands continued throughout 1994. (Exs. P-14 through P-17). Surely, “promptly” came and went before 1994, and several years before 1999, which is when Silver Creek claims the statute began to run. (App. Brf. at 11)(Silver Creek “continued to expect performance . . . until at least 1999”).

If, as Silver Creek argued, performance was due upon exercise, which Silver Creek claimed and the trial court found happened the last day of 1987, then breach occurred in 1988, when High Valley failed to perform. It certainly occurred when High Valley refused demand, either in 1993 or 1994. (R. 321 ¶ 28; R. 322 ¶¶ 33-34; (Ex. P-17). *Upland Industries v. Pacific Gamble Robinson*, 684 P.2d 638, 643 (Utah 1984)(breach of contract occurred when time for performance arrived and party refused to perform).

***B. The trial court found correctly that the statute of limitations began to run no later than March 28, 1994, when High Valley again repudiated any obligation under the Option.***

A claim is generally actionable—it accrues—when “it becomes remediable in the courts, that is when the claim is in such condition that the courts can proceed and give judgment if the claim is established.” *State Tax Comm’n v. Spanish Fork*, 100 P.2d 575,

577 (1940). *See also Hill v. Allred*, 28 P.3d 1271, 1275 ¶ 15 (Utah 2001)(“In most circumstances, a cause of action accrues upon the happening of the last event necessary to complete the cause of action.”)(internal quotation and citation omitted); *State v. Huntington Cleveland Irrig. Co.*, 52 P.3d 1257, 1264 (Utah 2002).

Repudiation is an actionable breach. *Pitcher v. Lauritzen*, 423 P.2d 491 (Utah 1967)(“Repudiation is the refusal to perform a duty or obligation owed to the other party”); *Petersen v. Intermountain Capital Corp.*, 508 P.2d 536 (Utah 1973). “A party’s refusal to perform under the terms of an agreement constitutes a breach of that agreement.” *Cobabe v. Stanger*, 844 P.2d 298, 303 (Utah 1992), *citing inter alia Kasco Servs. Corp. v. Benson*, 831 P.2d 86, 89 (Utah 1992).<sup>3</sup>

“[T]o constitute a repudiation, a party’s language must be sufficiently positive to be reasonably interpreted to mean that the party will not . . . perform. . . .” *Scott v. Majors*, 980 P.2d 214, 218 ¶ 18 (Utah App. 1999), *quoting* RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 250 cmt. b (1981)(emphasis in *Scott*).

In *Upland Industries*, for example, the parties agreed to a lease that included certain extension provisions and an option to purchase. The parties disputed whether the

---

<sup>3</sup> *See also Snow v. Rudd*, 998 P.2d 262, 265-66 (Utah 2000)(statute of limitations on claim by beneficiary against trustee begins to run when beneficiary “knows or through reasonable investigation could have learned of a breach or repudiation”); UTAH CODE ANN. §70A-2a-402(“Anticipatory repudiation”); §70A-2a-529(“Lessor’s damages for lessee’s default”); §70A-2a-523(“Lessor’s remedies”); §70A-2a-403(“Retraction of anticipatory repudiation”).

lessee had extended and exercised the purchase option properly. 684 P.2d at 640. Lessor had notified lessee that a purported extension of the lease was ineffective and that the tenancy had converted to a mere hold-over, thus nullifying the option. *Id.* at 642.

In the ensuing litigation, the lessee counterclaimed seeking to enforce the option. Lessor argued that the counterclaim was time-barred because the statute of limitations began when lessor claimed that the tenancy was a hold-over. Observing that the claim accrues upon breach, *id.* at 643, the court held that breach occurred when lessor “actually refused to convey the property . . . as required under the purchase option . . . .” *Id.*

Matters in this case reached critical mass in March of 1994. After repeated, unsatisfied demands by Silver Creek, the parties convened an all-hands meeting in March, 1994. (R. 322 ¶ 33). There, the two sides staked out unmistakable, unmovable and diametrically opposed positions concerning the Option:

Cary Jones [counsel for Silver Creek] made it real clear that—that his client wanted the water, wanted that right transferred to him.

Bill Geisdorf [then president of High Valley] made it real clear that that was not going to happen.

(R. 346—56).

Moments later, the trial judge got to the heart of the matter:

THE COURT: Here’s what I’m trying to get. . . .by the time this meeting took place . . . was there a position being staked out by High Valley that the [O]ption was not valid, regardless of whether notice had been given?

THE WITNESS: Yes. Definitely.

*Id.* at 57.<sup>4</sup>

This undisputed evidence, and more, resulted in the unchallenged finding that, “High Valley’s position as expressed at the meeting amounted to an absolute repudiation of any obligation to perform.” (R. 322, ¶ 34). Based on the trial court’s finding that the Option had been exercised properly, this repudiation was a breach the moment it occurred. (R. 323-24, ¶¶ 1-3). That breach triggered the limitations period. Silver Creek, then fully aware of its rights, failed to act. *Id.* ¶ 4.<sup>5</sup>

**II. SILVER CREEK FAILS TO MARSHAL ANY EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF, OR EVEN TO CHALLENGE, THE COURT’S FINDING THAT SILVER CREEK KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN IT HAD A CLAIM AS OF MARCH, 1994.**

The only way to challenge a finding of fact is to first marshal the evidence supporting that finding and then explain why the evidence is insufficient. In other words,

---

<sup>4</sup> The witness further described the March, 1994 meeting: “[t]hey were at polar extremes on this issue. Cary Jones [counsel for Silver Creek] would accept nothing less than the 56 acre-feet of water right[,] and Bill Giesdorf [then president of High Valley] . . . was not willing to give him one acre-foot . . .” (R. 346—56-57).

<sup>5</sup> Silver Creek had made several unsatisfied demands that High Valley perform under the Option. (R. 322 ¶¶ 31-33; 323 ¶ 36; 321 ¶ 28; Exs. P-14 through P-17; R. 321 ¶30; 322 ¶ 33; 323 ¶ 36). High Valley’s March, 1994 position on the matter was certainly not new. (Exs. P-12 at 2; P-23 at 3 § VII(a); P-24 and 25). Others involved in the transaction had made the same observation. (Ex. P-33 at 2)(Silver Creek “does not yet have title and will not until it performs certain additional conditions precedent in its option to purchase agreement. These include the payment of additional funds . . .”).



Silver Creek has, first, the unhappy task of cataloguing “every scrap” of evidence against it. *West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co.*, 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah App. 1991).

“After constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, [Silver Creek] must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence.” *Id.* That flaw must be serious enough to “convince the appellate court that the court’s finding resting upon the evidence is clearly erroneous.” *Id.* See also *Eggett v. Wasatch Energy Corp.*, 94 P3d 193, 203 (Utah 2004)(after marshaling, the appellant must “demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be against the clear weight of the evidence, thus making them clearly erroneous.”)

Trial judges deserve this deference “because they are in an advantaged position to evaluate the evidence and determine the facts.” *State v. Gamblin*, 1 P.3d 1108 (Utah 2000). Informing those findings, of course, and expressly recognized by rule 52, is the trial court’s own “consideration of the believability of the witnesses’ testimony.” *McKinstry v. McKinstry*, 628 P.2d 1286, 1289 (Utah 1981).

Nowhere does Silver Creek attempt to marshal and then attack the trial court’s findings. Indeed, Silver Creek does not identify as an appeal issue the “subsidiary” factual finding that it knew, or should have known, that it had a claim in March of 1994. This omission is fatal.

### III. SILVER CREEK MISAPPLIES THE LAW CONCERNING EXECUTORY CONTRACTS.

“[A]nticipatory breach occurs when a party to an *executory* contract manifests a positive and unequivocal intent not to render its promised performance.” *Cobabe*, 844.2d at 303(emphasis added). It is, in other words, a threat not to perform in the future, before performance is actually due. *Upland Indus.*, 684 P.2d at 643(anticipatory breach is committed “before the time has come when there is a present duty of performance, and is the outcome of words or acts evincing an *intention* to refuse performance *in the future*”)(emphasis added)(quotations and citation omitted).

Relying on this concept—where performance is pending but not due—Silver Creek argues that the Option “remains” (apparently to this day) “executory . . . awaiting full performance by the parties.” (App. Brf. at 7). Silver Creek contends that High Valley’s conduct so far is merely “delayed performance.” (App. Br. At 7).

This is appeal by euphemism. The trial court found, and Silver Creek has not adequately challenged it, that High Valley unequivocally repudiated. (R. 322, ¶¶ 33-36). Merely giving a new, more favorable label to conduct already characterized by the trial court is no substitute for a proper challenge to the findings.

Silver Creek prevailed in its argument that the Option was properly and fully exercised in 1987. (R. 321 ¶¶ 19, 23, 30, 31). The Option provides that “upon” exercise, High Valley was to perform. (R. 319-20, ¶ 15; Ex. P-4 at 6). There is nothing executory

about High Valley's obligation. It was under Silver Creek's interpretation due on December 31, 1987. The only interruption was the temporary change, which expired on July 15, 1989. (R. 321 ¶ 26).

At best, therefore, with the approved temporary change in place, High Valley's performance was "executory" during that period, and became due the day the temporary change expired. But here, Silver Creek proves too much. Even if High Valley's performance remained executory after the temporary change lapsed, that performance was due—because the Option had been exercised—the moment Silver Creek demanded it.

The trial court agreed. Silver Creek demanded performance at the March, 1994, meeting: "It was made clear at this meeting that Silver Creek believed it was *then entitled to* the transfer of the 56 acre feet and the filing of the permanent change application." (R. 322 ¶ 34)(emphasis added). High Valley refused, disclaiming any obligation. *Id.*

"An anticipatory breach occurs when a party to an executory contract manifests a positive and unequivocal intent to not render its promised performance when the time fixed for it in the contract arrives." *Breuer-Harrison, Inc. v. Combe*, 799 P.2d 716, 724 (Utah App. 1990).

So even if the Option is deemed “executory,” and High Valley’s breach merely “anticipatory” until performance was due, the time for performing “arrive[d]”—again, because the Option had been fully exercised (R. 320 ¶ 19)—when Silver Creek began issuing demands, the earliest of which was at least in 1993 (R. 321 ¶ 28). Those demands or claims continued through November of 1994. (R. 323 ¶ 36; Exs. P-16, P-17). But the meeting in March of 1994, the facts of which remain unchallenged, was without question the moment of truth for both parties. Silver Creek demanded performance. High Valley, believing the Option unenforceable, refused. (R. 322 ¶¶ 33-35).<sup>6</sup>

*Spears v. Warr* illustrates Silver Creek’s error. There, buyers alleged that an agreement to purchase lots included irrigation rights as part of the price. Sellers claimed that the irrigation rights were to be transferred later, under separate deeds and after additional payment. 44 P.3d at 745-47. Sellers argued among other things that buyers’ claims for breach were time-barred. *Id.* at 753.

---

<sup>6</sup> High Valley’s belief that the Option was never properly exercised was not without a sound basis. The Option requires the deposit of a sum certain (\$24,371), interest on that amount, plus payment for water service of \$1,400 per month until closing. (P-4 at 6-7, ¶¶ C.(2)(b)(c) and 3.D.). Silver Creek admitted that it made only the initial deposit, and to this day never paid for the water service. (R. 346—172-3, 176). The trial court ruled nevertheless that the Option was exercised properly and that the other sums (interest and water service payments) were intended to accrue until closing. (R. 320-21 ¶ 22). That interpretation means that High Valley agreed to carry the Atkinson water service for (according to Silver Creek’s reading of the Option) an indeterminate period, until Silver Creek decided it actually wanted the water it “always” believed it “owned.” (R. 346-177). Of course, getting paid for water service was a primary purpose of the 1987 Agreement in the first place. (R. 319 ¶¶ 12-13, 15.a.3.).

The court observed that the statute of limitations begins to run “upon the happening of the last event necessary to complete the cause of action.” *Id.* That event, said the court, was when sellers stated that the water would be delivered only after additional payment. *Id.* at 754. “Thus, the plaintiffs knew or should have known that [sellers] were not going to deliver the irrigation water rights as promised, thereby breaching the agreement.” *Id.*

The essential facts in *Spears* and this case are the same. In both cases, a party believed that performance of a contract was due. In both cases, the party owing that performance stated that it would not perform. In *Spears*, that refusal to perform was a breach, triggering the statute of limitations. *Id.* Applying that same reasoning, the trial court here found that the same refusal also triggered the limitations period. (R. 322 ¶ 33-35).

**High Valley’s performance was not contingent on State Engineer approval of the anticipated change application.**

Silver Creek argues that the Option can “only close [sic] when there is a final [State Engineer] approval of the change application” High Valley was to file. (App. Brf. at 8). This is incorrect. The Option, according to High Valley’s own argument at trial, was fully ripe, and High Valley’s performance was due, as of December 31, 1987. (R. 321 ¶ 23). The trial court agreed. (R. 321 ¶¶ 29-30).

At that point, had High Valley filed the change application and transferred the water, the contract would have been complete *as far as High Valley's obligations were concerned*. The only contingency—outside the control of either party—was whether the State Engineer would approve the application. See UTAH CODE ANN. § 73-3-8(containing requirements for State Engineer approval).

If not, then the parties simply reverted to their pre-contract positions. (Ex. P-4 at 7).<sup>7</sup> But in no event did High Valley owe any further performance. High Valley's obligations ripened in 1987 and, once completed, *ended* its contract duties. This performance was required *before* the State Engineer could act.

Therefore, the outcome of the change application process was not the decisive factor by which to measure High Valley's performance or to determine whether the Option was "executory."<sup>8</sup>

---

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